PACE ENVIRONMENTAL LITIGATION CLINIC, INC.

PACE UNIVERSITY SCHOOL OF LAW
78 NORTH BROADWAY
WHITE PLAINS, NEW YORK 10603

PHONE: 914.422.4343
FAX: 914.422.4437

SUPERVISING ATTORNEYS ADMINISTRATORS
KARL S. COPLAN MARY BETH POSTMAN
DANIEL E. ESTRIN JENNIFER RUHLE

ROBERT F. KENNEDY, JR.

September 25, 2013

VIA CERTIFIED MAIL - RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED

Thomas J. Madison, Jr., Executive Director Tappan Zee Constructors, LLC
New York State Thruway Authority c/o Corporation Service Company
200 Southern Blvd. 80 State Street

P.O. Box 189 Albany, New York 12207-2543
Albany, New York 12209-0189

Susan Leech, Registered Service Agent Weeks Marine, Inc.

Weeks Marine, Inc. 4 Commerce Drive

4 Commerce Drive Cranford, New Jersey 07016

Cranford, New Jersey 07016

Cesar A. Perales, New York Secretary of State
for service upon Weeks Marine, Inc.

One Commerce Plaza

99 Washington Ave., 6th Flr.

Albany, New York 12231

(By Hand)

Re:  Notice of Intent to Sue for Violations of New York State DEC
Permit ID 3-9903-00043/00013 and the Clean Water Act

To Whom It May Concern:

This letter constitutes Riverkeeper’s NOTICE OF INTENT TO SUE the New York State
Thruway Authority (“NYSTA”); Tappan Zee Constructors, LLC; and Weeks Marine, Inc. as
permittee, contractor, and sub-contractor, respectively, responsible for dredging operations and
implementation of fish monitoring arrays, at or around Hudson River Mile 27 (measured from
the Battery at the southern tip of Manhattan) on the East and West sides of the River in
connection with the New NY Bridge Project (see Exhibit 2 map delineating project area), that are
not in compliance with New York State Department of Environmental Conservation
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(“NYSDEC”) Permit ID 3-9903-00043/00013 (“Final Permit”), and therefore, not in compliance
with the Clean Water Act (“CWA”).

Riverkeeper, Inc. (“Riverkeeper”) is a non-profit environmental watchdog organization
headquartered at 20 Secor Road, Ossining, New York 10562, (914) 478-4501, that protects and
safeguards the ecological integrity of the Hudson River. On behalf of its members, it routinely
files citizen suits under the CWA to prevent and remediate environmental pollution problems.
Many of Riverkeeper’s members and constituents live near and routinely recreate in and on the
Hudson River. Riverkeeper is represented in this matter by the Pace Environmental Litigation
Clinic, Inc., 78 North Broadway, White Plains, New York 10603, (914) 422-4343.

. BACKGROUND

The New NY Bridge Project consists of constructing a dual-span bridge over the Hudson River
at the Tappan Zee, connecting Rockland and Westchester Counties, and demolishing the existing
Tappan Zee Bridge. On March 25, 2013, NYSDEC issued the Final Permit which serves as the
NYSTA'’s State Water Quality Certification under CWA § 401 (“Section 401 Water Quality
Certification”) (see Exhibit 1). The Section 401 Water Quality Certification regulates the
NYSTA in pile driving and dredging operations, and requires the NYSTA to take measures that
result in a net conservation benefit to the shortnose and Atlantic sturgeon of the Hudson River,
including active monitoring for sturgeon during the construction of the bridge.

1. LEGAL STANDARD

CWA 8§ 505, 33 U.S.C. 88 1365, permits any citizen to bring a civil action against any person
who is alleged to be in violation of an effluent standard or limitation or an order issued by the
Administrator or State with respect to such a standard or limitation. Riverkeeper intends to sue
NYSTA,; Tappan Zee Constructors, LLC; and Weeks Marine, Inc. for violations of specific
conditions of the Final Permit relating to dredging operations and implementation of fish
monitoring arrays. Each instance of non-compliance with the Final Permit constitutes a separate
and independent violation of CWA sections 401, 404, and 301(a).

CWA 8 404 requires a Dredge and Fill permit (“Section 404 Permit”) to be issued by the Army
Corps of Engineers for any dredging operation, which may discharge dredged or fill material into
navigable waters. 33 U.S.C. § 1344. Because the New NY Bridge Project includes a dredging
component that results in discharges of pollutants to navigable waters, NYSTA is required to
have a Section 404 Permit. CWA 8 401, 33 U.S.C. § 1341, requires an applicant for a Section
404 Permit to obtain a Section 401 Water Quality Certification from the state in which the
discharge originates. General Condition 5 of the Section 404 Permit states, “If a conditioned
Section 401 of the CWA water quality certification has been issued for your project, you must
comply with the conditions specified in the certification as special conditions to this permit.”
Additionally, the Section 404 Permit Project Description states, “All work shall be performed in
accordance with ...[the] New York State Department of Environmental Conservation issued
Section 401 of the Clean Water Act Water Quality Certificate Numbered 3-9903-00043/00013
dated March 25, 2013, including any future amendments; all of which are hereby made part of
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this permit.” Therefore NYSTA'’s violations of the Section 401 Water Quality Certification also
constitute violations of the Section 404 Permit.

CWA § 301(a) states, “[e]xcept as in compliance with this section and sections [...] 1344 [CWA
8 404] of this title, the discharge of any pollutant by any person shall be unlawful.” Because
NYSTA is violating its section 404 permit, its dredging activities constitute discharges of
pollutants not in compliance with CWA § 404, and are therefore violations of CWA § 301(a) as
well.

NYSTA is liable as the permittee. Tappan Zee Constructors, LLC and Weeks Marine, Inc. are
liable as NYSTA'’s agents and contractors pursuant to the explicit terms of the Final 401 Permit
and the section 404 Permit.
I1l.  VIOLATIONS
a. Violations of Section 401 Water Quality Certification

i. Permit Condition No. 24

Permit Conditions 19-35 of NYSTA'’s Section 401 Water Quality Certification contain
requirements for the dredging operations required to build the replacement bridges. Condition 24
states:

The bucket must be lifted in a continuous motion through the water column and
into the barge. Bucket decanting and loss of dredged material into the River
during barge loading will be minimized to the maximum extent practicable.

On the dates and at the times listed below, the dredges on both the eastern and western sides of
the river were operated in a manner that violated these explicit permit requirements. On these
occasions, the dredges have been observed to pause for varying amounts of time after bringing
the full dredge buckets out of the river, before swinging the buckets to deposit the dredge
material into the barge. These “pauses” violate Condition 24’s requirement that the buckets be
lifted in a continuous motion through the water column and into the barge, and result in
contaminated sediment, turbid water and other dredged materials draining out of the dredge
buckets and discharging directly into the Hudson River. These discharges from the dredge
buckets result in bucket decanting and loss of material into the river, which also violates
Condition 24’s additional and independent requirement that “Bucket decanting and loss of
dredged material into the River during barge loading will be minimized to the maximum extent
practicable.” (see Exhibit 1). This practice has occurred at or around Hudson River Mile 27 (see
Exhibit 2) on the East and West sides of the River in connection with the New NY Bridge
Project on at least the following dates and times:
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Date Time Dredge Violation*
8/10/13 | 11:43 AM Weeks 506 | 123
8/10/13 | 11:46 AM Weeks 506 | 123
8/12/13 | 3:12 PM Weeks 551 | %3
8/12/13 | 3:15 PM Weeks 551 | %3
8/15/13 | 8:04 AM Weeks 551 | 123
8/27/13 | 8:55-8:59 AM | Weeks551 | »%3
8/27/13 | 6:17 PM Weeks 551 | 123
8/27/13 | 6:19 PM Weeks 551 | 123
8/27/13 | 6:22 PM Weeks 551 | 123
8/28/13 | 7:10 AM Weeks 551 | 23
8/28/13 | 7:31 AM Weeks 551 | 123
8/28/13 | 7:34 AM Weeks 551 | 123
8/28/13 | 7:38 AM Weeks 551 | 123
8/28/13 | 7:43 AM Weeks 551 | 123
8/28/13 | 7:47 AM Weeks 551 | 123
8/28/13 | 7:50 AM Weeks 551 | 23
8/28/13 | 8:00 AM Weeks 551 | 23
8/28/13 | 8:03 AM Weeks 551 | 123
8/28/13 | 8:06 AM Weeks 551 | 123
8/28/13 | 9:09 AM Weeks 551 | 123
8/28/13 | 9:15 AM Weeks 551 | 123
8/29/13 | 9:18 AM Weeks 551 | 123
8/29/13 | 9:30 AM Weeks 551 | 123
8/29/13 | 9:33 AM Weeks 551 | 123
8/29/13 | 9:35 AM Weeks 551 | 123
8/29/13 | 5:12 PM Weeks 551 | 123
8/29/13 | 5:13 PM Weeks 551 | 123
8/29/13 | 5:20 PM Weeks 551 | 123
9/3/13 | 8:46 AM Weeks 506 | 123
9/3/13 | 8:48 AM Weeks 506 | 123
9/3/13 | 8:49 AM Weeks 506 | 123
9/3/13 | 8:52 AM Weeks 506 | 123
9/3/13 | 8:53 AM Weeks 506 | 123
9/3/13 | 9:08 AM Weeks 506 | 123
9/6/13 | 9:19 AM Weeks 506 | 123
9/7/13 | 12:10 PM Weeks 551 | 123
9/7/13 | 12:11 PM Weeks 551 | 123
9/9/13 | 8:57 AM Weeks 551 | 123
9/9/13 | 8:59 AM Weeks 551 | 123

* Numbers Correspond to below footnotes:

! Failure to lift the bucket “in a continuous motion through the water column and into the barge” pursuant
to condition 24 of the Final Permit.

2 Failure to minimize “bucket decanting and loss of dredged material into the River during barge loading”
to the maximum extent practicable, pursuant to condition 24 of the Final Permit.

® Failure to operate dredge equipment “in a manner that minimizes the resuspension of sediments in the
Hudson River pursuant to condition 25 of the Final Permit. See infra § Ill.a.ii.
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9/9/13 | 12:00 PM Weeks 551 | 123
9/9/13 | 9:00 AM Weeks 551 | 123
9/11/13 | 7:51 AM Weeks 551 | 123
9/11/13 | 7:52 AM Weeks 551 | 123
9/12/13 | 3:15 PM Weeks 551 | 123
9/15/13 | 6:00 PM Weeks 506 | 123

ii. Permit Condition No. 25

Permit Condition No. 25 of NYSTA’s Section 401 State Water Quality Certification states:

Dredging equipment must be operated in a manner that minimizes the
resuspension of sediments in the Hudson River. Dredging operations may not
cause turbidity that results in a substantial visible contrast to the Hudson River
outside of the 500 foot mixing zone as set forth in the Water Quality Monitoring
section below.

The failure of the dredge operators to move the dredge buckets in a continuous motion on the
above-listed occasions also violates Permit Condition 25’s separate and independent requirement
that the operation of dredging equipment minimize the resuspension of sediments. Significant
volumes of sediment and turbid water have drained from the dredge buckets into the Hudson
River as a result of the violations detailed in the Table above. Given the enormous scope of the
ongoing dredging project, large volumes of sediment have drained from the dredge buckets and
discharged into the Hudson River, resulting in significant sediment resuspension. In order to
minimize the resuspension of contaminated sediments in the Hudson River so as to comply with
Condition 25 of the Section 401 Water Quality Certification, the dredge operators must operate
the dredges in compliance with Condition 24, as noted above. Failure to do so has repeatedly
violated, and continues to violate, Condition 25 of the Section 401 Water Quality Certification,
and thereby has also violated, and continues to violate, the CWA.

iii. Permit Condition No. 40

Permit Condition No. 40(A) of NYSTA’s Section 401 Water Quality Certification states:

As soon as possible, but no more than 60 days after the effective date of this
Permit, and before starting installation of permanent piles four feet or more in
diameter, and prior to the commencement of dredging, the Permittee will have in
place an operational-capable array of stationary receivers capable of detecting
sonic tags in the vicinity of any Authorized Activities....(emphasis added)

The referenced 60-day period ended on May 24, 2013, and at the time dredging commenced on
August 1, 2013, at or around Hudson River Mile 27 on the East and West sides of the River in
connection with the New NY Bridge Project (see Exhibit 2), an operational-capable array of
stationary receivers had not yet been fully installed in the vicinity of the project. This failure to
comply with Permit condition 40(A) constitutes a daily violation of the Section 401 Water
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Quality Certification, which daily violations have been continuous and ongoing since
approximately May 18, 2013. Upon information and belief, as of the date of this letter, dredging
continues on a daily basis without a fully operational array of stationary receivers. This failure
constitutes a continuing violation of Condition 40(A) of the Section 401 Water Quality
Certification and an ongoing a violation of the CWA.

b. Violation of Section 301(a) of the Clean Water Act

As previously noted, the requirements of the Section 401 Water Quality Certification are
incorporated by reference as conditions of the section 404 Permit. Thus, because the NYSTA is
not operating in compliance with the Section 401 Water Quality Certification, it is also violating
the section 404 permit.

CWA § 301(a) states, “Except as in compliance with this section and sections [... 404] of this
title, the discharge of any pollutant by any person shall be unlawful.” As we have clearly
established, the NYSTA is not in compliance with its Section 401 Water Quality Certification or
its Section 404 Permit, and therefore any discharges of any pollutants are unlawful under CWA 8
301(a). Since the subject dredging operations constitute discharges of pollutants, they constitute
violations of CWA § 301(a) as well.

IV. RELIEF SOUGHT

This letter gives 60 days notice of Riverkeeper’s intent to seek (1) injunctive relief enjoining
future violations of the permits and the CWA pursuant to 33 U.S.C. § 1365(a); (2) civil penalties
pursuant to 33 U.S.C. § 1319(d) and 40 C.F.R. § 19.4; and (3) an award of Riverkeeper’s
litigation costs and attorney fees pursuant to 33 U.S.C. § 1365(d).

V. SUMMARY

The above-referenced permit violations, in addition to any future violations of the permit,
constitute violations of the CWA.

This Notice of Intent to Sue sufficiently states the grounds upon which Riverkeeper intends to
file suit and notifies all required parties. 40 C.F.R. § 135. The failures of the NYSTA to comply
with NYSDEC’s permit constitute continuing and ongoing violations of the CWA. Each day of
dredging not in compliance with NYSDEC’s permit constitutes a series of separate violations
under applicable regulations, and the NYSTA will remain in violation until all such permit
violations permanently cease. In addition, each day since May 24, 2013 that NYSTA has failed

to properly install and maintain the array of stationary receivers required by Permit Condition No.
40(A) constitutes separate and independent violations of the Permit and the CWA.

At the close of the 60-day notice period, we intend to file a citizen suit against the NYSTA;
Tappan Zee Constructors, LLC; and Weeks Marine, Inc., as permittee, contractor, and sub-
contractor, respectively, responsible for the violations of law described herein around Hudson
River Mile 27 in connection with the New NY Bridge Project adjacent to the existing Tappan
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Zee Bridge (Exhibit 2), and for all similar violations that occur after your receipt of this notice
letter. We intend to seek injunctive relief, civil penalties, attorneys’ fees and litigation costs for
each of these violations.

During the 60-day notice period, we will be willing to discuss effective remedies for the
violations noted in this letter. If you wish to pursue a settlement, we suggest that you initiate
discussions within ten days of receiving this notice so that a meeting can be arranged and
negotiations may be completed before the end of the notice period. Please do not hesitate to
contact us at (914) 422-4343 if you wish to discuss these matters.

Very truly yours,
Karl S. Cople?ﬁw 4

Daniel E. Estrin

Thomas Ruane, Legal Intern

Edward Teyber, Legal Intern

Pace Environmental Litigation Clinic, Inc.
78 North Broadway

White Plains, New York 10603

(914) 422-4343 (tel)

(914) 422-4437 (fax)
destrin@law.pace.edu

CC (via certified mail - return receipt requested):

Gina McCarthy, Administrator

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency
1200 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W.
Washington, DC 20460

Eric H. Holder, Attorney General
U.S. Department of Justice

950 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20530



NOTICE OF INTENT TO SUE
September 25, 2013
Page 8 of 10

Judith A. Enck, Regional Administrator

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Region 2
290 Broadway

New York, NY 10007-1866

Joe Martens, Commissioner

New York State Department of Environmental Conservation
625 Broadway

Albany, NY 12233-1011

Edward F. McTiernan, General Counsel

New York State Department of Environmental Conservation
625 Broadway

Albany, NY 12233-1011

Thomas Rudolph, Acting Regional Director

New York State Department of Environmental Conservation, Region 3
21 South Putt Corners Rd.

New Paltz, NY 12561

Joan McDonald, Commissioner

New York State Department of Transportation
50 Wolf Road

Albany, NY 12232
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EXHIBIT 2
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